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CHARLES BECH

A LUXEMBOURGER IN THE US ARMY AIR FORCES

Author’s note
I am a retired army officer, and after retirement settled in San Antonio and  returned to university for a doctorate in modern European history. I have long had an intense interest in the European resistance movements during World War II and in 1984 my wife Betty and I visited Luxembourg to attend a symposium on the topic.  During the meeting we came to know M.Emile Krieps, whose career had included leadership positions in the resistance and service as defense minister of the grand duchy.  He gave me a stack of “Rappel,” the old comrades’ journal of the Luxembourg resistance.  In reading them I was intrigued to see mention of a 1942 article about occupied Luxembourg in the San Antonio Express.  I looked up the article, sent a copy to M. Krieps, and more or less forgot about it.  After finishing graduate school I worked for the US Air Force for some twelve years as a civilian historian at Lackland Air Force Base, formerly the San Antonio Aviation Cadet Center.  In the course of reviewing World War II issues of the “Talespinner,” the center newspaper, I noted an article about Luxembourger Charles Bech.  I made a copy of the article, and once again more or less put it aside.  On retiring from my air force position I had time for personal research and ran across the two 1942 documents regarding Luxembourg.  I sent a copy of the Talespinner article to the Luxembourg Army, which referred me to the Luxembourg Military Museum,  Mme. Sabine Augustin (Bech’s daughter), and to some Luxembourg authors.  The following is the fascinating story which I uncovered.  Since I expect this to be read on both sides of the Atlantic, I have tried to put the story into prospective of the time and of the two countries involved.

Background
The Grand Duchy of Luxembourg is small, but not a microstate.  The country has an effective government, a foreign policy, an army, and a viable economy.  Perhaps most important, Luxembourgers have a distinct nationality.  With an area of less than 1,000 square miles and a population something over 500,000, the country is obviously not a major military power.  For all that, the country has one of the most varied and interesting military histories in the world.  The very bases of the Luxembourg of today are its strategic location, the natural fortress in the capitol city, and its placement on the frontiers of France and Germany.  The story is complex, but the land became independent in 1867 with neutrality guaranteed by the great powers.  At that time the great fortress was dismantled, although the remains of the fortifications and casemates give  Luxembourg-Ville of today its distinctive character.   Having been a prize fought over for centuries, it is fitting that the nation’s motto is “We Wish to Remain as we Are.”  (“Mir welle bleuwe wat mir sinn” in Luxembourgish.) That wish would be difficult to fulfill in the twentieth century.

Guaranteed neutrality is, of course, as good as the guarantors.  That neutrality was shattered in 1914 when the German invasion of the West began with seizure of the northern Luxembourg town of Trois-Vierges, a railway center needed for the Schlieffen Plan.  Luxembourg was occupied until 1918, and shared in post-war Europe’s turmoil, but regained independence and another guarantee of neutrality.  It is unlikely that many Luxembourgers had much faith in international guarantees in the interwar years, but what could they do?  As Europe moved toward war in the 1930s, the grand duchy had a well-functioning government, a foreign policy based on attempting to stay out of the impending war, and a small gendarmerie and border guard which aimed at least to give immediate notice of invasion.
That foreign policy was under the direction of  Charles Bech’s father, Josef, who held the portfolio of minister of foreign affairs. He was an important figure in the political life of the grand duchy, having been prime minister, and he would hold that position again after the World War II

Charles Bech:  Invasion, escape, and training in Canada
Luxembourg’s neutrality was violated once again on May 10, 1940, with another German invasion.   Luxembourg was small and cut off, and never had a chance to defend its hundred-mile frontier with Germany.  Minister of Foreign Affairs Bech was at home, and his twenty-year-old son Charles, law student at the Sorbonne since 1938, was there as well, probably on summer vacation.  As Charles tells it:  “The 9th of May I drove with some friends along the German frontier.  From time to time we glanced up to the hills where the most powerful of all fortifications was hidden under peaceful vineyards-the Siegfried Line.”[footnoteRef:1]  They returned to Luxembourg-Ville, and at ten that night a friend told him that the German Fifth Column had been mobilized.[footnoteRef:2]  He and some of his friends took it on themselves to patrol in search of traitors.  Perhaps foolishly, at about one A. M. the next day he returned to the border to find the Germans still on their side of the border, but with bodies of fifth columnists killed by local farmers on the Luxembourg side.  He returned to the city about dawn to find German soldiers (possibly Luxembourger Brownshirts)[footnoteRef:3] beginning to enter the town, and hid for a short while with some friends.  The chaotic state of affairs is shown by another of Charles’ reminiscences that two Nazis, fellow students of theirs “ jumped over the garden wall, headed for the house.  They wore Swastika arm bands that morning which gave us a nice opportunity….to shoot at them.”  They hit both of the Fifth Columnists, and Charles noted with admirable sang froid “it was time for us to go.”[footnoteRef:4] The family was able to make its way to Paris through the refugee-choked roads.  The following day they arrived in Paris, with Charles hoping to be integrated in a French unit.[footnoteRef:5]  Those ambitions were quashed with the fall of France. [1:  Aviation Cadet Charles Bech, “I Saw the Nazis Take my Homeland,” Talespinner, (weekly newspaper of the San Antonio Aviation Cadet Center), December 25, 1942, p3.]  [2:  The “Fifth Column” refers to German sympathizers who mobilized to assist the invasion. ]  [3:  Nazi party paramilitary groups.]  [4:  Bech, “I Saw the Nazis.”]  [5:  Ibid.  In his account he mentions his wish to get to France to join “his French regiment.”] 


After the horrors of war and the refugee experience, he finally escaped to England via Spain and Portugal along with his parents and sister, reaching London on September 12, 1940.[footnoteRef:6]   He was young, intelligent, strong, and a Luxembourg patriot.  His shock developed into “a terrible hatred against the invaders.”  In 1937, Charles had taken flying lessons at Bexhill, Sussex, with his friend Charles Longley,[footnoteRef:7]and his goal was to become a pilot.  The family went to New York, arriving on September 1, where the father resumed his duties as minister of foreign affairs to the Luxembourg Government in Exile. [6:  Information provided by Mme Sabine Augustin, Charles Bech’s daughter.  ]  [7:  Mme. Augustin.] 


Charles then proceeded to Canada to join the Royal Canadian Air Force as a pilot officer despite his father’s enjoinder that “my son, flying has no future!”[footnoteRef:8]  Future or not, on April 2, 1941, he signed up and began flight school.   The details of his service in the RCAF are unclear.  It is likely that he went first to a manning depot, then to a initial training school (somewhat analogous to the cadet ground school he was to attend in San Antonio) before proceeding to flight training.[footnoteRef:9]  He finally reported in to Royal Canadian Air Force (RCAF) Camp de la Madeleine in Quebec Provence for pilot training. There he was trained by #11 Elementary Flying Training School, flying the Fleet Finch trainer.  The Finch was a two-seated biplane designed especially for the RCAF, somewhat similar to the US Stearman and the RAF Tiger Moth, but with features such as canopies to cope with the extreme cold in the north.[footnoteRef:10]  It is likely that his training in that French-speaking province was conducted in French.  A photo shows Charles in winter gear in front of his aircraft in the snow.  This would put him at Cap de la Madeleine at the beginning of the winter of 1941-1942.  On December 7,  1941, while he was in the Quebec base, the Japanese attacked Pearl Harbor.  Three days later Germany declared war on the United States, and it was truly a world war.  The entry of the powerful nation to the south into the war led Charles to request transfer to the United States Army Air Forces (USAAF).[footnoteRef:11]  He apparently qualified as a pilot in the RCAF, since a composite photo of him from that time shows the wings, and a postwar photo shows him wearing both USAAF and RCAF wings. [8:  Club des Jeunes Ell,  “D’Lëtzebuerger am Krich 1940-1945: Eng kleng Natioun (erzeit) erzielt, p. 165, date (2001)  and place of publication not given (Luxembourg)]  [9:  Samual Kostenuk and John Griffin, “RCAF Squadron Histories and Aircraft 1924-1968, Toronto, Samuel Stevens Hakkert, 1977, pp. 229-230.]  [10:  Ibid.  Further information about Cap de la Madeleine, #11 EFTS, and the Fleet Finch was derived from a number of Internet sites.  Due to the everpresent issue of site decay, I suggest that anyone wanting further information simply put the wanted words or phrases into a search engine.]  [11:  All the references cited above agree with the dates of Charles’ enlistment and citizenship, but often disagree in details on the course of his training. ] 


Charles joins the US Army:  entry and ground school
With that decision Charles began the long road toward becoming a bomber pilot.  On October 22, 1942, he enlisted as an aviation cadet, USAAF, in Washington DC.[footnoteRef:12]  Although his father may have had his doubts as to the advisability of a flying career, it is likely he was instrumental in making the transfer possible.  After in-processing and travel, Charles reported to the San Antonio Aviation Cadet Center (SAACC), in the southwest quadrant of San Antonio, Texas, about November 1.  He was in for quite an experience.  Typically, new cadets arrived at the railroad station to be picked up in trucks and taken to SAACC.  As they came through the gates, they were greeted by cries of “yoooooo’lll beeee soooreeeeee” from the cadets in various stages of classification.[footnoteRef:13]  As the truck parked, the new cadets, still in civilian clothes, were met by a sergeant yelling “Let’s go!  Hubba Hubba!”[footnoteRef:14] [12:  Aviation Cadet was a rank for aircrew trainees, getting approximately the pay of a sergeant.  Trainees remained as cadets through preflight, primary, basic, and advanced  aviation training, getting their aviators wings and rank of lieutenant or flight officer on graduation from advanced.]  [13:  The general narrative of cadet life, where not otherwise footnoted, was gleaned from my twelve years as a historian at Lackland Air Force Base, as SAACC was redesignated after the war.]  [14:   “Hubba Hubba” is a generic slang expression for emphasis which seems to date from baseball in the 1930s.  It seems to have no etymology, and died out in the 1950s.  In the war, it was extensively used as an admonition for trainees.  After the war, it became more of a wolf whistle to draw attention to a pretty girl.  The idiom is forgotten in 2012, but is branded on the memory of every World War II aviation cadet..] 


Although arrival at SAACC seemed to be an exercise in chaos, there was a pattern to it all.  The prospective cadet began at the classification center, where he remained for several weeks.  This assignment served several purposes.  The overall mission was to see whether the would-be cadet was good material for aircrew, and if so what he would do best.  That evaluation was done through an intense series of tests of his medical qualifications, physical prowess, hand-eye coordination, vision, intelligence, and a number of other attributes, shown by a cartoon in student literature as a machine which poured raw recruits into the top and spit out pilots, navigators, bombardiers, gunners, and radio operators.  In addition to testing and evaluation, the classification center gave the army the chance to initiate personnel and pay records, administer the dread immunizations, issue uniforms, and gave the new soldier a chance to acclimate to army life and the rigors to come.[footnoteRef:15]  In addition, the classification center served as a holding tank to regulate the flow of cadets into ground school.  Looking back, however, former cadets remember no understanding of the organization behind the chaos and hubba hubba.  They recall only bewilderment. [15:  Throughout World War II, the air corps was part of the army, with army ranks and enlisted men referred to as soldiers.  The United States Air Force became independent in 1947.] 


The tests weeded out those not likely to be successful aircrew, and did a remarkable job of determining what aircrew job the new soldier would do best.  The key to this evaluation was a series of physical, applied, and paper tests which gave a series of scores in nine areas.  These “stanines,” or standard nine scores, were quite accurate in picking what specialty would best match the cadet’s aptitude.  Naturally, most applicants wanted to be pilots, and the system began by giving consideration to the wishes of the individual.  After some time, however, the stanines were seen to be so accurate that ignoring them was not in the army’s or the candidate’s best interest.  There was nothing gained by taking an applicant who would have made an excellent navigator, for example, to let him wash out in pilot training

Bech qualified as a pilot trainee.  While navigator and bombardier trainees went to cadet ground school elsewhere, Bech only had to go to another part of the base.  When enough pilot trainees had been assembled at the classification center to make up a ground school class, they marched “across the road” to the pilot cadet school.  There they found the same atmosphere of “hubba hubba,” with the pressure heightened by the class system.  At the time Charles entered ground school, the program was based on that of the prewar cadet school at Randolph Field, Texas, which was in turn based on that of West Point.  A major part of the training regimen was intense hazing of newcomers by the upper class.  The nine-week program was divided into two four-and-half-week segments, with the senior class expected to make life as miserable as possible for those a few weeks behind.  Cadets spent many hours picking up rocks on the parade ground and running around the area for minor infractions.  A typical harassment was the “brace,” an exaggerated position of attention in which the upper classman counted the ripples on the cadet’s chin, and made him hold a pencil between his shoulder blades.  Underclassmen had to sit on three inches of their chair at meals and eat a stylized “square meal,” in which the fork is brought to mouth level, then across to the mouth, then returned the same way.

Charles’ opinions of all this splendid absurdity have not been recorded, but having been in combat with the Germans as a young student, then having trudged the corpse-strewn roads from his homeland to Paris,  it must have seemed silly.  Most of the cadets took it as a game, knowing that in a few weeks they would be senior classmen themselves.  Few of the candidates had had Charles’ harrowing experiences, but they were young and tough, had shown themselves to be an elite through selection as aircrew, and had survived the depression.  The nineteen-year-old cadet in 1942 would have been about six years old at the time of the Wall Street collapse.  While he may have had food on the table, he had no stability and no future.  As an aviation cadet he not only was housed, clothed, fed, and relatively well-paid at $75 per month but was learning to fly.[footnoteRef:16]  The drive to succeed was intense. [16:  Letter from Aviation Cadet Edward H. Garnett to Ms. Arlea Newman, October 27, 1942.  Edward H. Gernett Letters, 1942-1943, MS 56, UTSA Archives, Library, University of Texas at San Antonio.  ] 


The braces, picking up rocks, and harassment were annoyances, but the cadet’s real challenge was to absorb all the data thrown at him.  The curriculum included map reading, code, aircraft and ship recognition, and all the details of military life, all at a dazzling pace.  Interspersed with it all was drill and physical training every day.  A typical day went from reveille at six A.M.  until about half-past seven in the evening, with three hours of classroom instruction, ninety minutes of physical training, and a couple of hours of drill.[footnoteRef:17]  Other activities included orientation to high altitude in a low pressure chamber and classes on how the army worked.  Night training in such subjects as blinker code as well as guard duty and kitchen police made it a full schedule.  Aviation Cadet Garnett, a contemporary of Bech at SAACC, opined “I believe I have figured out why they treat the boys the way they do…..I think they purposely try to break their nerve figuring if they can’t take the grind here they certainly could not take it in combat duty in the air.”[footnoteRef:18]  The USAAF commanding general might have put it more elegantly, but there is no doubt that ground school was a make-or-break experience. [17:  Garnett to Newman, January 26, 1943.  There is no sign that Bech and Garnett ever were in contact, but they were contemporaries at SAACC, and Garnett’s letters are an excellent picture of cadet life.]  [18:  Garnett to Newman, November 5, 1942.  Garnett was still in the classification center at that time, and going through full culture shock.] 


The course was tough, but most cadets went on to graduate  Despite the full schedule, cadets had time for leisure. Going to the movies was part of cadet culture, and SAACC theaters sold almost four million tickets during the life of the cadet program.[footnoteRef:19] While Charles was in ground school, he probably joined other cadets in seeing “Sun Valley Serenade” with Sonja Henie and the Glenn Miller Band, the cowboy movie “Idaho” with Roy Rogers, and perhaps they dared to go see Hedy Lamarr’s exotic love scenes in “White Cargo.”[footnoteRef:20]  “Chattanooga Choo-Choo” was performed by Glenn Miller in “Sun Valley Seranade,” and the cadets also had thoughts of home and better days listening to “Serenade in Blue,” and “I Wonder When my Baby’s Coming Home.”[footnoteRef:21]  Bing Crosby introduced “White Christmas” while Charles was in ground school, but coming from the cold of Luxembourg, then Canada, the ideal of a beautiful snowscape  probably didn’t register with him.  The cadets often had “open post,” a day pass, on weekends.  The fashionable Gunther Hotel in downtown San Antonio had a cadet club in the basement and sponsored “tea dances” on weekends. [19:  Talespinner, June 30, 1945, p5.]  [20:  Movie information throughout this essay is drawn from movie notices in “The Talespinner.” .]  [21:  Popular music cited is extracted from Bruce C. Elrod, ed., Your Hit Parade and American Top Ten Hits, 4th Ed., Ann Arbor, Popular Culture Inc. 1994.] 


Charles did not leave any memories of his days at SAACC, but there is no reason not to feel that he took it in stride.  On Christmas Day, 1942, the “Talespinner,” the SAACC cadet newspaper, published the above-quoted article on him, and he provided a number of up-beat quotes, summing up that he became a pilot trainee to have another go at the German conquerors.  In view of his future recognition as an artist, it is interesting to note that he made some pen-and-ink sketches for the article.  On 11 September, 1942, the San Antonio Express newspaper ran a short article on occupied Luxembourg.[footnoteRef:22]  The article, dealing with the Grand Duchy’s resistance to Germanization, does not mention Charles, and the timing is confusing, but it is likely that he was involved.  American press coverage of occupied Luxembourg was scarce enough that the article was mentioned in the Luxembourg veteran’s journal.[footnoteRef:23] [22:  San Antonio Express, September 11, 1942.  The timing is confusing indeed, since it does not appear that Charles was in San Antonio at that time  It is possible that rather than Bech having anything to do with the article that he saw it in San Antonio, sent it to his father, and it became known to the Free Luxembourg Government in that way.]  [23:  Rappel, revue mensuelle de la LPPD, numero special:  35 Joer frai, Mar-May, 1980, p. 270.] 


Flying at last
Aviation Cadet Bech graduated from ground school and went on to the next stage on the long road to becoming a pilot.  It was a complex journey.
After ground school, the prospective pilot went to three levels of instruction, usually taken at different bases.  He began with primary training, designed to teach the cadets, many of whom had never been in an airplane, to be a pilot.  Primary training was conducted with light, simple, and easy-to-fly aircraft which would teach the new airman the basics; how to take off, how to fly and perform certain maneuvers, and enough navigation to let him find his way back to base.  Primary was demanding but fun, and most cadets came through the process on the wave of enthusiasm at being able to fly at last. Basic training, the next step, taught basic aviation but with a hotter aircraft and a more demanding schedule.  In basic the cadet was introduced to an aircraft with a variable-pitch propeller and radio (in the primary trainer the instructor and cadet communicated by voice tube, and there was no communication with the ground or other aircraft).  The final stage of becoming a pilot was advanced, learning to use the airplane as a weapon.  On completion of advanced the student received his wings and commission and bloomed from cadet to officer.  The pace was rapid at all phases, and students were dropped or “washed out” regularly throughout the process.

Pinning on the shiny wings did not complete the process  The new pilot could fly, but needed to train in the specific type of aircraft in which he would go to war.  Then in case of larger aircraft, the crew had to work up as a team.  It was a long process; the typical time for the factory, which the training establishment amounted to, to manufacture a heavy bomber crew came to fifty-four weeks, not counting time for leave and transit.  When Charlie Bech traveled the eighty-eight miles east to Cuero, Texas, for primary training he still had a long way to go.

Primary training in 1942 was a typically American story.  As the world moved towards war, America’s air force was small, and its training organization was designed to produce small numbers of high-quality pilots who were prepared to move up in the hierarchy of the army .  As an aviation-centered war became inevitable, it became evident that the need was not for hundreds of hand-made pilots on their way to becoming colonels, but rather tens of thousands or even hundreds of thousands of mass-produced aircrew to fly in the coming conflict and who would go home when the war ended.  At best, pilot training is a labor-intensive business, and pilots were needed both to fly and to train; the numbers were simply inadequate.

The physical plant also required rapid expansion.  As the USAAF ramped up, small and mid-sized towns planned to take part in the financial bonanza which new air fields would bring.  The air corps had certain requirements such as flat land, ground which could be developed into runways, availability of water and power, and a civilian work force.  Many towns in what came to be called the sun belt possessed these characteristics, and throughout the area civic groups got busy and offered free land to the air corps if they would place their bases with them.[footnoteRef:24]  The bases brought an influx of people and money to the towns, and on demobilization the towns received airports, most of which are in use today.  The expansion, with its elements of capitalism, engineering, patriotism, and good ole boy dealing, was typical America of the thirties.  The construction was also in the American mainstream, with its experience of building oil camps, railroads, and shanty towns for a number of purposes. [24:  The “sun belt” is an inexact term which came to refer to the southern tier of states, particularly Florida, Texas, Arizona, New Mexico, and California.] 


The development of primary training such as Charlie encountered was a  hybrid of civilian and military instruction, to a large extent the product of Air Corps chief Henry “Hap” Arnold’s vivid imagination and dedication.  He pushed hard for Army Air Corps expansion (as well as autonomy) and had a good sense of the complexity the coming expansion and war would bring. He looked to aircrew training as an industrial process, with each step in the assembly line being conducted by the proper personnel.  Instructors were in short supply, and producing more instructors would be a long and tedious process.  In October, 1938, he had a meeting with directors of prominent civilian flying schools, urging them to contribute to the effort to win the impending war by transforming their schools into primary training facilities for new pilots.[footnoteRef:25]  Arnold made it plain that he had no funds for the project, but felt he could get them from Congress.  The flying school directors faced a tough choice.  On one hand, they were taking a leap into the unknown by putting all their faith into the Air Corps with no guarantee that they would not be left in the lurch.  On the other hand, war was clearly on the horizon, and the government contracts would give a chance for the schools, still staggering from the depression, to stay in business.   In the event, most of the schools willingly took up the challenge.  The civilian instructors, often overage with a smattering of World War I aviators, knew their business.  Calling themselves “the incorrigible trying to instruct the untrainable,”[footnoteRef:26] with good oversight and standards set by the Air Corps, the civilian flying schools were successful in turning out the required masses of primary-trained pilots ready to become military aviators. [25:  Wesley Frank Craven and James Lee Cate, eds. The Army Air Forces in World War II, 6 vols, Vol. 6, Men and Planes, Chicago, University of Chicago Press, 1955, new imprint,.Office of Air Force History, 1985, pp. 454-455.]  [26:   Willard Wiener, Two Hundred Thousand Flyers:  The Story of the Civilian AAF Training Program, Washington, Infantry Journal Press, 1945, pp. 5-7.] 


Seeing the opportunity, the Cuero administration and chamber of commerce took the initiative and voted bonds to pay for five hundred acres of what had been a ranch and rice fields.[footnoteRef:27]  Four nearby auxiliary fields, totaling some 300 acres, supported the main base. The next step was to get someone to build and run the school. The Cuero city fathers contacted old-time aviator Clyde Brayton, whose license was signed by Orville Wright.  Brayton flew in from his flying school in St. Louis on December 31, 1940, and approved the site.  The bond issue followed on February 28, and the land was purchased and leased to Brayton.   After some eighty days of quick and dirty construction the first class began to fly in mid-March, while the base was being completed around them. [27:  DeWitt County Historical Society, The History of DeWitt County Texas” Dallas, Curtiss Media Corp. 1991, pp. 113-114.] 


We Americans were used to building fast and flimsy, and the contract primary schools were perhaps less flimsy than some of the other bases.  They were constructed by the contractors with no standardization. Some were just slapped together; others were constructed with a view to use after the war.  The primary flight school at Cuero was built rapidly, but a cut above the flimsiest type.  Brayton was an experienced flyer and instructor, and knew how to make money at his business.  He understood that his success would depend on exceeding USAAF standards.  He decided to construct a school with some distinction, and used the Texas mystique to do so.  The facilities were decorated with cattle, horses, spurs, and Mexican-themed items.  The recreation building sported a collection of two hundred model airplanes, exhibitions of Texas brands, and western-themed furniture including chairs made from barrels.[footnoteRef:28]  The aircraft carried an insignia of a Texas lone star and an eagle,[footnoteRef:29] and the cadets were referred to as Buckaroos.[footnoteRef:30] [28:    Wiener, Two Hundred Thousand Flyers: pp. 113-114.]  [29:   History of DeWitt County, pp. 113-114. ]  [30:  “Buckaroo” has some into English meaning “cowboy,” a corruption of the Spanish vaquero.] 


The course was ten weeks in length, with a new class reporting in every five weeks.  The class system, which continued at primary thus fit easily into the program.  The base was well established by the time Bech arrived in early spring of 1943. He was one of about 290 cadets in training at any time, so was not overwhelmed by a massive base.  We don’t know much about how well Buckaroo Bech did at Cuero, but it would not have been too trying.  The typical  Buckaroo had probably never been in an airplane before arriving at the base, while Charles had a relatively rich experience.  He had flown before the war, and had completed the equivalent of the Cuero course in Canada on the Finch, which was quite similar to the Stearman he flew.[footnoteRef:31]  While he was under less stress than most of his fellow cadets, he must have been uneasy in his mind.  He was well aware that in July, 1941, Germany had annexed his native Luxembourg as an integral part of the Reich.  During the course of Bech’s flight training, Luxembourgers were drafted into the Wehrmacht.  Thousands of  young Luxembourgers, many of them well-known to Bech, were forcibly clad in  German feldgrau, and before he returned to his home country the bones of several hundred lay in frozen graves in the east.  Being an intelligent and sensitive young man, these issues must have weighed on his mind.   As he scanned the newspapers, though, he would have been somewhat encouraged by what he saw.  The dark days of 1940-1942 were being replaced by careful optimism as the Allies slowly taking the initiative.  North Africa was being cleared, and the German surrender at Stalingrad, the first USAAF raid on Germany, and the American victory in Guadalcanal took place during Bech’s primary training.  While none of this helped Luxembourg much, it gave Bech some cause for hope. [31:  Cuero transitioned from the Stearman PT-13 to the PT-19 about the time Charles arrived.  The class book for Class 42-B, which appears to have been the class before his arrival, shows class photos in front of a Stearman, so that was probably his aircraft.  Aviation Cadets of Class 42-A and 42-B, Brayton Cadet, publisher not given, 1942, pp. 15-16.] 


The training program was an amalgam of military and civilian instruction.  The civilian instructors provided each cadet with sixty-five hours flying plus five hours in the Link trainer, the flying simulator of the time.  Non-flying instruction included meteorology, navigation, aircraft identification, and training into the mysteries of aircraft engines.   The 303rd Army Air Forces Flying Training Detachment provided the military side of the coin, maintaining records, enforcing discipline, and other “shoot and salute” elements of the military life.  Army Air Corps officers gave check rides at twenty, forty, and sixty hours, each of which could result in elimination.  Most cadets passed through primary school with few problems, but there were washouts and recycles.  The introduction to one primary school class book contained the poignant comment that the “Within these pages are some who are no longer with us and others who are yet to go.”[footnoteRef:32] [32:  “Cross Tee,” class book of Class 42-G, Spartan Air corps Training Detachment, Muskogee, Oklahoma, 1942.] 


Training began with the cadets breaking up into groups of four, then meeting the civilian instructor who would train each group.  The instructor took his four charges onto the apron to give them a walkaround orientation to the airplane.  The walkaround included giving the cadets respect for the whirling propeller, showing how the various belts and controls work, and what ailerons do.[footnoteRef:33]  That orientation was followed by taking each of the four, one by one, for an orientation flight.  Training proceeded from simple to complex maneuvers, with successful trainees soloing on the ninth or tenth day.  About two days after solo, the cadet made a solo flight from the home field to another location.  By the end of primary training, the successful cadet would have mastered basic flight: preflight check, taking off and landing, certain aerobatic maneuvers, emergency procedures, and rudimentary navigation.   The PT-13 Stearman is remembered as an easy and forgiving aircraft to fly, and giving the students a sense of confidence was not the least of the goals of primary training.[footnoteRef:34] [33:  Errol D. Severe. The Last of a Breed, Eureka Springs, Ark., Lighthouse Productions, 1997, pp. 247-252, provides an excellent day-by-day summary of primary training by one of the civilian trainers.  ]  [34:  This may be a good place to note the basics of USAAF aircraft nomenclature.  “T” stood for trainers, with “P,” “B,” and “A” before the letter to denote primary, basic and advanced trainers.  “B” stood for bombers, “P” for pursuit (later changed to “F” for fighter).  There were others such as “C” for cargo, “L” for liaison, “A” for attack, “G” for glider and  more.] 


While Charles was a little older, most of the cadets were essentially teenagers a long way from home, and their tastes were those of the world they had left behind.  The Buckaroos frequented the recreation building when off duty.  With the western atmosphere it is likely that they listened to “Deep in the Heart of Texas,” which was released on February 7, as well as the songs of Glenn Miller, then at the height of his popularity.  Many soldiers were homesick and lonely, and much of the most-heard music in the spring of 1943 had a nostalgic edge, such as “You’d Be So Nice To Come Home To,” “I’ve Heard that Song Before,” and Don’t Get Around Much Any More.”   We don’t know if Charles left a girl behind, but if he did, the sense of separation must have been intense.  The cadets were healthy young men, and if some left loves behind others found new ones, and many met local “cuties” on passes to town.  Other favorite hits such as “Taking a Chance on Love,” and “Moonlight Becomes You,” might reflect these new liaisons.  Many of the songs of the era are well-known seventy years later, but time has been merciful in erasing others such as “Johnny Zero” from our consciousness. Besides sipping Coca-Cola, they probably attended the movies in the five-hundred-seat theater which doubled as a classroom, and it is likely that they watched “ Casablanca” and Walt Disney’s “Saludos Amigos,” as well as some of the war movies such as “Flying Fortress,” “Stand by for Action,” and “Commandoes Strike at Dawn.”

Neither Charles’ reminiscences nor the fragmentary records to be found in the National Archives and Records Service give us the exact dates of his nine weeks of training at Cuero, but we can assume that he finished in early April, 1943.  On completion of primary training  he traveled the 150 miles to Houston, Texas, to be sworn in as a US citizen, with the permission of Grand Duchess Charlotte.  Like so many parts of Charles Bech’s fascinating story, we don’t know exactly why he became a citizen or why it was then, but there are some clues.  By the law, one had to be a US citizen to become a cadet.[footnoteRef:35]  It would take an immigration lawyer to get all the facts straight, but it is likely that that requirement was waived at least to allow him to begin his training.  By the time Bech finished in Cuero, his career as an aviation trainee was coming along nicely, and it was likely he would receive his wings. He was on the way to basic training, and completion of the next phase, advanced pilot training, led to a commission in the US Army, for which he would certainly have had to have been an American citizen.  It appears that the difficulties of commissioning him into the Free Luxembourg forces, which did not have an air arm, then assigning him to a US unit, were just too difficult to contemplate.  In any case, on Friday, April 16, 1943, Charles Bech became a US citizen.  He retained his Luxembourg citizenship as well, and since our immigration lawyer is still absent, we will not concern ourselves about that issue.  He retained dual citizenship, although he became a diplomatic representative of Luxembourg in Canada and later an official with the Luxembourg government.[footnoteRef:36]  Such issues have little to do with Charles’ military career. [35:  Assistant Chief of Air Staff, Intelligence, Initial Selection of Candidates for Pilot, Bombardier and Navigator Training, Numbered Study #2, Washington, Headquarters USAAF, 1943.]  [36:  Letter Bech to Charles Lubicic, August 15, 1999.] 


The newly-minted citizen then traveled some three hundred miles northwest to the Central Texas city of Waco.  Having mastered the basics of flying a light plane, his next step was to learn to handle a hotter military trainer in basic school at Blackland Army Air Field.  Each step in the progression of his training was more serious and brought him closer to combat.  At SAACC, the hazing and “hubba hubba” had some aspects of a fraternity initiation, and primary school, instructed by civilians, was much like a civilian flying school in uniform.  Basic flying school was all military and all business, although the class system remained.  Guidance to cadets was often “if you miss something in ground school or basic, you can probably pick it up later.  If you miss something in basic there is no time to get it.”    Blackland Field at Waco had been cotton fields up until about eighteen months before Charles arrived.   (The name comes from the black dirt in the area, and it was given the name to differentiate it from Waco Army Air Field on the other side of the town.  It has been said that anyplace you can grow cotton you can grow pilots; they both require sunshine, flat and well-drained soil and cheap land.)

Bech had twelve weeks to learn to fly a military aircraft well enough to go on to advanced training.  The normal aircraft for basic pilot training was the BT-13 or Vultee Valiant, informally known as the “Vultee Vibrator” from its engine’s tendency to rattle the cockpit at low rpm. The Vibrator was a hotter aircraft, with low wing and metal frame.  It had a more powerful engine than the Stearman, a service ceiling of 21,650 feet, range of 520 miles and a maximum speed of 180 mph (230 mph in a dive). There was a lot to learn in twelve weeks, and the Vultees were much less forgiving than the light Stearmans.  The curriculum included solo cross-country flights, with the trainee producing the fight plan, as well as radio procedure and the craft of flying a high-performance military plane.  Graduation was not automatic.  From arrival at the classification center until the new pilot received his silver wings, the washout rate was about forty percent from injury, deaths, or elimination for disciplinary or academic reasons.  The cadets were carefully chosen to begin with, and with each step the surviving students were more of an elite.  Charles passed all of his tests and was approved for movement to the next stage, advanced flying school, but not without some problems.  As he remembers it, on a cross-country flight to Amarillo, Texas (about 350 miles northwest in the Texas Panhandle) he had do bail out into a cactus patch.[footnoteRef:37]  With few injuries to other than his pride, he passed on to advanced school at Lubbock, Texas. [37:  The “Panhandle” is the northernmost part of  Texas, jutting north between Oklahoma and New Mexico.  It is sparsely-populated ranch country, with plenty of cactus.  If Charlie ruined one cactus, many more remain.] 


Potential pilots went through the same preflight, primary, and basic training courses whatever the aircraft the pilot would finally fly.  At the end of basic, the trainees were divided into two training paths.  The scores of aircraft flown by the USAAF were different in many ways, but the training system broke them down into single-engine and multiple-engine planes.  Beyond basic airmanship, the skills of the two groups were different.  In addition to basic skills, the single-engine pilot had to know navigation and radio procedures and, most important, had to be skilled at pointing the airplane in the right direction to deliver bullets and bombs on the enemy.  The multiple-engine pilot, on the other hand, had a much more complex aircraft under him, and was head of a team as well as pilot of a plane.  The manual for B-17 crews exhorted the pilot:  “You are now flying a ten-man weapon.  It is your airplane and your crew….How well [each crew member] does his job, and how efficiently he plays his part in your combat team, will depend to a great extent on how well you play your own part as the airplane commander.”[footnoteRef:38] [38:  Quoted in Rebecca Hancock Cameron, Training to Fly, Military Flight Training 1907-1945, Washington, Air Force History and Museums Program, 1999, p. 488.] 


By the time the cadet graduated from basic school, he was somewhat acclimated to army life and to flying.  While the pressure never let up, one base was beginning to look like another and each aircraft simply the successor to the one before.  Training wasn’t any easier, but most of those who were going to wash out had gone.  In Lubbock, Bech took his training on one of the twin-engine trainers, most likely the Cessna AT-8 Bobcat, informally known as the “Bamboo Bomber” due to its all-wood construction.[footnoteRef:39]  Twin-engine cadets underwent seventy hours of flying, with emphasis on night flying, keeping formation, and instrument flying.  There was the usual ground school instruction and link trainer exercise. [39:  Data about Lubbock AAF is primarily from “Lubbock Army Air Field”, http://www.jcs-group.com/military/always/flying3.html.  The web site notes that the course also used the AT-9, 
AT-10, and AT-17, but the Bamboo Bomber was the most commonly-used twin trainer, particularly early in the war (The AT-8 came in service in 1939).] 

Charles took it in stride, and like most of his classmates at Lubbock,  passed advanced school.  At last, he got the silver wings of a US Air Corps pilot, along with appointment as a flight officer.[footnoteRef:40]  It was a poignant moment.  His father, on a visit to the United States, came to Lubbock to pin the silver wings on his son on August 29, 1943.[footnoteRef:41]  We can imagine Bech’s feelings on that hot and oppressive West Texas day.  It was more than three years since the German invasion, and there had been no assurance that he would not end his young life dead on the side of a European road, equally dead from an aircraft accident, or a washed-out pilot trainee with no real prospects.  As it was, he was a pilot and army officer, and had done it all with a lot of work and no more injuries than some cactus scratches in the Texas high plains.  At the same time, he realized full well that his training journey was not done; in fact he was a little more than halfway through it. [40:  The grade of flight officer was created at the beginning of the war, and was somewhat equivalent to a fahnrich in the German forces or aspirant in the French. The flight officer ranked equal to a ground-forces warrant officer, below a second lieutenant, but above all enlisted men.  If there was any rhyme or reason how one became flight officers and others became second lieutenants on graduation I haven’t been able to find it.  In any case, Bech was soon commissioned as a second lieutenant.]  [41:  D’Letzebuerger an Krich 1940-45 pp.170-172. ] 


So far so good: he had learned to fly, to handle a military aircraft, to master a two-engine plane, and had picked up a treasury of leadership and military skills along the way.  The next trick was to learn to fly a specific airplane.  That phase of his training brought him out of Texas, to Lockbourne, Ohio, about twelve miles southeast of the city of Columbus, where he learned to fly and command the B-17 Flying Fortress. That aircraft has become one of the icons of World War II, and could take a bomb load from England to anywhere in Western Europe. The four-engine B-17 Flying Fortress was an enormous aircraft by the standards of 1943, not easy to fly, and Charles had to learn not only to fly it but to command the crew. While he was learning his difficult trade, other members of what would become his crew were undergoing specialist training of various lengths at bases all over the country.    When assembled, his crew would be ten strong; pilot, copilot, navigator, bombardier, radio operator, two waist gunners, and top and ball (bottom) turret gunners, and tail gunner.  (All crew members except for the pilot and copilot were trained gunners.)  It would be Bech’s task to mold these individuals into a weapon.

He arrived at Lockbourne in August, 1943,[footnoteRef:42]  There he underwent some forty-two hours of transition training to the B-17, five hours of them at night and seven on instruments.  He also had about ten hours on the Link Trainer.[footnoteRef:43]  As part of his training he passed the instrument flight test in September.[footnoteRef:44]  The dates for the next few months are not precise, but after Lockbourne he went to Salt Lake City.[footnoteRef:45]  It is likely he went to pick up a B-17 there, since nearby Wendover AAF was transitioning from B-17 to B-24 training about that time.[footnoteRef:46]  The B-17s at Wendover would need to be transferred to other training bases.  He then headed back southwest, not to Texas this time but close. [42:  His base identity card is dated August 30.]  [43:  The hours are based on the flight log of a copilot who underwent training at Las Vegas AAF.  Although pilots and copilots had different training programs, the hours were probably approximate.  Record of Burton Gardner http://www.squidoo.com,/flying-fortress/pilot.]  [44:  His flight test certification, AAF Form No.8, is in the documents Mme. Augustin provided.  ]  [45:  Chronology provided by Mme. Augustin.]  [46:  “History of Wendover Army Air Field, Utah,”  http//www.onlineutah.com/wendoverairfieldhist.shtml.] 


The crew came together for the first time at Ardmore Army Air Field, Oklahoma, about thirty miles north of the Texas state line.  They were assigned to the 395th Combat Crew Training School, to work up as a team.  The course was demanding, but to some extent they were left alone to knit themselves into a combat crew.[footnoteRef:47]  They had a lot to do, with minimum training including satisfactory completion of some fifteen tasks including: [47:  Information provided by bomber pilot Ken Wander, who took his training at the B-24 Liberator Operational Training Unit at Biggs AAF, El Paso, Texas.] 

· Twenty hours formation flying about 25,000 feet
· A navigation mission of 3,000 miles
· Radar-only navigation mission of 900 miles on a triangular course
· Twenty bomb releases from above 25,000 feet
· All but pilot and copilot to fire at least 200 machine-gun rounds from their primary and secondary gun positions.[footnoteRef:48] [48:  Air Historical Office, United States Air Force, “Army Air Forces Historical Studies No. 61: Combat Crew and Unit Training in the AAF, 1939-1945,” Washington, AAF Historical Office, 1949, pp. 24-25.] 

Bech, promoted to Second Lieutenant during the course of the Ardmore training, took his duties seriously and worked his crew hard.  Almost sixty years later one crew member remembered disassembling his machine gun and putting it back together under the watchful eye of the aircraft commander.[footnoteRef:49]  Bech and his crew received some recognition while in their operational training.  They were designated “Crew of the Week” at one time[footnoteRef:50] and were officially designated the “Duchess of Luxembourg”  crew in official orders.[footnoteRef:51]  They completed their training towards the end of March, and on the 22nd were directed to travel by rail to Kearny Army Air Field, Nebraska.  They were given a train ticket and a dollar per meal for the six-day journey.[footnoteRef:52]   In Nebraska, they picked up a shiny new B-17 and orders to travel over the northern route to the British Isles.[footnoteRef:53] [49:  Letter Charles Lubicic to Mme. Augustin, January 29, 2001.]  [50:  Newspaper clipping, no date, provided by Charles Lubicic.]  [51:  Special Orders, 395th Combat Crew Training School, 22 March, 1944.]  [52:  Ibid.]  [53:  The northern route, via Maine, Newfoundland, over Greenland to Scotland was normally used for the B-17s.  The B-24s, with slightly longer range, usually went the southern route via Florida, Brazil, West Africa, and Morocco, landing in Wales.] 


Off to war
The next two and a half weeks are simple to tell, but were filled with the hurry, waiting,  and mumbo-jumbo which any serviceman who has undergone “preparation for overseas movement” will recognize.  They had to report in to Kearny Field, go through the tedious process of signing for the B-17 and checking the plane’s mechanical condition thoroughly; their lives would depend on how well the plane functioned.  It is almost certain that they found some minor defects, had them repaired, checked them again, made some test flights in the plane, and reviewed their procedures and teamwork as a crew.  They underwent the personal processing and double checks to be sure they were ready to go to war:  immunizations, wills, next of kin addresses, updating personnel records, and a score of other important but unheroic tasks.[footnoteRef:54]  Finally the Fortress was gassed up, the crew received their orders to proceed to Britain, and they took off in a blinding spring snowstorm for Bangor, Maine, their last stop in the States.[footnoteRef:55] [54:   D’Letzelbuerger am Krich  pp. 170-172.]  [55:  Ibid, pp171-172.] 


On April 14, they took off from Bangor for  Newfoundland,[footnoteRef:56] landing for refueling and to remain over night at the Gander air base.[footnoteRef:57]    Despite the passage of more than a half-century, we can imagine the excitement they must have felt.  The ten-man crew boarded the craft and took their positions.  Charles contacted them one by one on the intercom, and confirmed they were ready for takeoff.[footnoteRef:58]  The pilot directed the ball turret gunner to secure his turret, set the altimeter, and checked propeller controls.  The copilot checked fuel levels and made sure the landing gear was locked in place.  Bech called the control tower for clearance as the copilot checked the flaps and fuel pressure and temperature of several parts of the engine.   After a number of similar checks and procedures, the pilot pulled the throttles back to the fully open position, ran down the runway, pulled the stick backwards.  They were airborne and on the way to war.  The copilot retracted the landing gear, they notified the tower they were airborne, and they headed east to Scotland. [56:  WD AGO Fpr, 53-98, “Military Record and Report of Separation, Certificate of Service, Bech, Charles J., provided by Mme. Augustin.]  [57:  The records on dates do not agree exactly.  The certificate of service noted above begins Bech’s overseas service on April 16, but the combat diary provided by crewman Charles Lubicic has them arriving in Scotland on the 16th.  With the transit time plus one turnaround in mid-Atlantic plus the seven-hour time difference between Maine and Britain, it appears that a day is lost in transit. It might be an error in the record, or the overseas service on the service record may have begun in Newfoundland.]  [58:  B-17 operating procedures are take from AN 01-20EF-1/A.P. NO. 2099C, Pilot’s Flight Operating Instructions for Army Models B-17F and G: British Model Fortress II, August 1, 1943, obtained from Zeno’s Warbird Videos.] 


We can assume that they did their preflight checks with extreme care, but the gremlins were hard at work.[footnoteRef:59]  About four hours east of  Gander the fuel levels went down rapidly, and they realized they had a leak.[footnoteRef:60]   They returned to Gander, had the deficiency repaired and headed east to the war once again.  They knew they were in a war as they noted snorkels of German U-boats below them.[footnoteRef:61]  As they settled down for the long stretches of flight between Maine and Prestwick, the radio operator probably tuned in to commercial stations as long as they could be picked up.  Many of the popular songs of the time have become classics:  “I’ll Get By,” “Poinciana,” and “Long Ago and Far Away” were at the top of the hits.  The world war was fast turning against the Axis as they crossed the ocean.  The Red Army was well into Poland, Anglo-American forces had broken out of the Anzio Beachhead in Italy, and Eisenhower was readying his forces for the invasion of France.  Once the bomber was safely in the air and “George,” the autopilot, was set, Bech and his crew had some time to review what was to come and what had taken place.  It does not take much imagination to think that Bech must have reflected on his journey since May, 1940.  He and his family had been chased out of their native land, hounded across France, and made refugees in the friendly but alien environments of England, Canada and the United States.  Although there is no sign that he was ever discouraged, those were bitter days.  Now he was returning, flying one of the most potent weapons in the world, part of  the mighty invasion force, to bomb the hated Germans and participate in the liberation of his homeland.  They arrived at  Prestwick, Scotland, on April 16.[footnoteRef:62] [59:  “The Gremlins” were part of the air corps mythology, little imps who caused mechanical problems in flight were the personification of frustration of how things went wrong.  Walt Disney made a cartoon about the gremlins during the war.]  [60:  D’Lëtzebuerger am Krich, p. 173.]  [61:  Ibid, p.174.]  [62:  Combat Diary, Charles Lubicic (gunner on the B-17).  ] 


Combat
Whatever his thoughts over the Atlantic, the situation changed on arrival in Prestwick.  After being billeted in a palace[footnoteRef:63]the crew was broken up, and Bech never saw his nine crewmembers again.  The next eight months are something of a mystery which I hope will be resolved with further research.  This section must be considered a draft while I search for more information. The excellent D’Letzebuerger am Krich 1940-1945, on which so much of this study is based, states that at he flew a few missions over Germany and also worked on attachment to the Air Intelligence Corps US.[footnoteRef:64]  Another study, an extract of a work by R. Schilitz and V. Jaeger, states that Bech participated in the bombing offensive, including the Schweinfurt mission, and was hit by flak in a later mission over Koln, in which several members of the crew were killed and Bech wounded.[footnoteRef:65] It further states that he went on to intelligence after recovery.  On the other hand, Bech wrote to Charles Lubicic, one of his gunners “from my arrival in Prestwick, Scotland, without my knowledge, higher-ups from the Pentagon Intelligence Service had already assigned me to fly for the 8th and 9th Air Force, reconnaissance missions.”[footnoteRef:66] [63:  D’Lëtzebuerger am Krich, p, 174.]  [64:  Ibid, pp. 174-175.]  [65:  Typescript, origin uncertain, R. Schiltz-V. Jaeger, Extrait-Forces Americains, Bech, Charles (dit Charlie).]  [66:  Letter, Bech to Lubicic, August 15, 1999, provided by Mr. Lubicic.] 


The period between April and December, 1944, seems to be a very short time to fly bomber missions, be wounded, recover, and then to transition to a new type of aircraft and fly missions in the new plane.  Unless new information comes in I am going to assume that Bech went from Prestwick to the intelligence establishment, flying no bomber missions.  The record is not complete, but backs up this assumption.  In his separation record, he is certified as a pilot of the B-17, and later in with a different typewriter as for a P-38 (often used as a reconnaissance aircraft)[footnoteRef:67]   The P-38 Lighting was one of the “hot planes” of the war, and with its two engines and twin tail it looked like nothing else.  It had long range and was used as a fighter as well as for reconnaissance.  The separation record also shows Bech as receiving the Distinguished Flying Cross for service with both the 8th Air Force and the 9th Air Force.  Based on these clues, it appears that he was assigned to the 67th Reconnaissance Group.  The 67th and 10th were the reconnaissance groups in England at that time, and of the two only the 67th flew P-38s and only the 67th was assigned to the 8th, then 9th Air Forces.[footnoteRef:68]  (The 8th Air Force conducted strategic bombing while the 9th provided support to the ground forces.) The 67th was stationed at Middle Wallop, England, when Charles joined the unit, and later moved to Tossul le Noble, France in August and Grosselies, Belgium, in September.[footnoteRef:69]  Schilitz and Jaeger note that Bech was wounded piloting a B-17.  His separation record does not include a Purple Heart but notes “Wounds Received In Action:  Twice” (the Purple Heart is awarded for being wounded by enemy action). In addition, he received the Luxembourg “insignie de blesse,” and his daughter listed the Purple Heart among his awards.  There is no doubt he was wounded in action and received the Purple Heart although it did not get into his record.[footnoteRef:70]  The group was flying combat missions, often in heavy flak, from England and the continent for the months Charles was assigned.  It was a dangerous task in which Charles could well have been wounded.  Although Charles distinguished himself in training as a pilot among pilots, rather than as a Luxembourger, the powers that be had obviously had their eye on him, and it was not coincidence that he was put into reconnaissance where his knowledge of Europe could be put to use.   He flew missions over Leipzig, Wurzburg, Cologne, Cassel, Mersberg, Saarbrucken, Koblenz, and Duren after D-Day.[footnoteRef:71] [67:  WD-AGO Form 33-96, Military Record and Report of Separation Certificate of Service, Bech, Charles J. ]  [68:  Maurer Maurer, Air Force Combat Units of World War II, Washington, D.C., Office of Air Force History, 1983, pp 50-52 and 133-135 cover the history of the two groups.  www.afhra.af..mil/factsheets contains up to date fact sheets for the 10th and 67th. ]  [69:  Ibid, p. 135.]  [70:  The rapid buildup of the American forces and their equally rapid disappearance at the end of the war was a recipe for chaos.  As we have seen throughout this study, Charles’s records were incomplete and contradictory.  While most of the American records were corrected as veterans applied for  benefits, Bech’s have remained in their state of incomplete chaos until this day.  I have not hesitated to extrapolate from the available records, but have made it clear each time when I have done so.]  [71:   Mme.Augustin.] 


As the allied offensives moved into Europe, they encountered chaos.  The land had been fought over twice, the German occupiers had stripped their conquered territories of anything useful, transportation facilities were a shambles, and millions of people had been dislocated.  The generals had a war to fight, but much as they would have liked to have washed their hands of civilian matters it was out of the question.  With Europe facing civil disturbance stemming from starvation and the breakdown in basic services,  military considerations as well as the dictates of humanity mandated restoration of order and basic services.[footnoteRef:72]  The situation in Luxembourg was as complex as any. The grand duchy had been incorporated into the Reich, and the local government and institutions to a large extent replaced by German organizations and officials.  There was a definite need for allied action, and for qualified officers to attack the country’s many problems.  Bech knew both Luxembourg and the United States, was familiar with U.S. Army ways, had the languages and at least a partial background in law.  He  was tailor-made for the task, and was assigned to the SHAEF (Supreme Headquarters, Allied European Forces) Mission to Luxembourg on December 10, 1944, six days before the German offensive which has come to be known as the Battle of the Bulge.[footnoteRef:73]  He had his work cut out for him.  A mission report of September 15 noted that” all banks and financial institutions, courts, public offices, general merchandise stores and shops were closed.  Shortage of staple food permitted no food stores and cafes to remain open.  Garages and repair shops were closed….”[footnoteRef:74] [72:  Harry L. Coles and Albert K Weinberg, Civil Affairs:  Soldiers Become Governors, Washington, Office of the Chief of Military History, 1964, is a special studies volume in the army history of World War II.  It is a collection of documents with introductory and explanatory text.  ]  [73:  Information on Bech’s service in the SHAPE Mission is taken from the citation for his Bronze Star Medal.]  [74:  Coles and Weinberg, Soldiers Become Governors, p 810-811.] 


The retreating conquerors left the civil affairs teams little to work with.  “The enemy had during the period of occupation eliminated every vestige of the former Luxembourg Government.  When the enemy withdrew, the officials, civil and economic, left with them taking all records possible and attempting to destroy the balance.”  The very structure of the prewar system had been destroyed.  “The Duchy was redistricted or rezoned [by the German regime] and a complete change over made in the functions of the administrative officials.  New offices and bureaus were created with a complete change in the keeping of civil, or what may be termed public or quasi-public records.”[footnoteRef:75]  The SHAEF’s mission was facing formidable challenges, which were not made easier by infighting between the mission[footnoteRef:76] and the V US Corps, the tactical unit fighting the battle. In the words of the official history, “The Corps Commander had not asked for the Mission, instead, Headquarters, First United States Army, had directed the Corps Commander to receive the Mission….It was evident that the Mission was not welcome in the area under jurisdiction of the Fifth Corps, United States Army.”[footnoteRef:77] First Lieutenant Bech (which he had become)[footnoteRef:78] must have felt it was simpler to fly recon missions through German flak. [75:  Idem.]  [76:  The mission was disbanded about the time Bech arrived, with civil affairs taken over by 12th Army Group. The organization was referred to as “the mission,” and it is doubtful that Bech was aware of the change.  It made no difference with his work.  ]  [77:  Coles and Weinberg, Soldiers Become Governors, p. 810.]  [78:  As we have seen, the official record is chaotic.  Although he was a first lieutenant by December, 1944, his certificate of promotion gives the date as November 23, 1945.  W.D-.A.G.O Form 0650C, Army of the United States promotion certificate, April 5, 1946.] 


The real crisis was just over the horizon.  The Battle of the Bulge, the biggest battle the U.S. Army ever fought, began with a surprise attack in Belgium and Luxembourg just six days after Bech arrived.  The mission members were not front-line infantrymen, but as the American lines collapsed they were in the midst of the action.  The civil affairs teams were essential in dealing with the often-terrified population, supporting them as much as possible, and aiding the retreating American troops.  Their task was “to restrain hysteria among civilians, to control refugees, to keep military routes clear of civilian traffic, and to ensure the maintenance of security.”[footnoteRef:79] [79:  Coles and Weinberg, Soldiers Become Governors, p. 813.] 


Civil affairs sounds like an esoteric and political activity, and so it was in the corridors of Whitehall and the Pentagon.  For the detachments with boots on the ground during the Bulge, however, it was hands-on, dangerous, and dirty.  The civil affairs detachment at the border town of Clervaux, for example, was wiped out in the German advance.  As the official history notes, “it was besieged and shelled by the armoured columns and was last seen defending itself from the Post Office, where its records were being burned….[footnoteRef:80]  Charles Bech was fortunate not to have been in the Clervaux detachment, but he was busy.  His assignment was as assistant legal officer, where his languages and legal background were valuable.  Once the battle was joined, his intelligence background made him part of the battle.  In the words of his Bronze Star citation “Lt. Bech also assumed additional duties as Interrogation Officer and through his linguistic abilities obtained valuable information regarding enemy units from Luxembourgers escaping from Germany.  He also, in the company of Luxembourg citizens, was shown to concealed enemy defenses which had been slowing up advances of the US Forces.  All this information was of great value to the tactical commands concerned.” [footnoteRef:81] [80:  Ibid, pp. 815.]  [81:  Headquarers 12th Army Group Bronze Star citation.] 


Charles remained with the Luxembourg Mission until March 12, 1945, and was awarded the Bronze Star Medal noted above for his service.  He was probably on temporary duty with the ground troops, and seems to have returned to the 67th Reconnaissance Group after that service.[footnoteRef:82]  He flew his last mission over Kiel on April 3.  By that time there was not much left of the Reich to overfly and photograph, and the Germans surrendered unconditionally on May 8.  He became involved in the hurry-up-and-wait which characterized the end of the war and left Europe for the States on November 11, 1945. He remained in the army until January 16, 1946, when he was separated at Fort Meade, Maryland and remained on terminal leave[footnoteRef:83] until at least August 16, 1946, at which time he was promoted to Captain.[footnoteRef:84] [82:  Temporary duty is used by the American forces to move people around as needed with minimum disruption.  The soldier on temporary duty would come under orders of the temporary assignment while he remained on the books of the parent unit.  ]  [83:  Terminal leave is the device by which the separated soldier remains on the payroll, although without duties, while he uses up the leave he did not take during the war.]  [84:  Letter, Adjutant General’s Office to Bech, RHI/st/5D825 August 16, 1946.] 


After the war
It is unlikely that Charles Bech could have visualized the drama of the six years ahead when he and his family were forced to flee from Luxembourg.  In the event, he served first in the Royal Canadian Air Force and then in the US Army Air Corps, and qualified as a pilot for both forces.[footnoteRef:85]  He went through the difficult process of becoming a B-17 aircraft commander, as well as going on to qualify on the P-38.  There were a lot of pilots, but his background and character made him an unique choice for his job on the ground with the mission to Luxembourg.  It was an interesting and exciting, if often scary war for him. [85:  The terminology is confusing.  The Army Air Corps was Bech’s branch of service, which would compare to the infantry or artillery.  The US Army Air Forces was the command, along with Army Ground Forces, Army Service Forces etc.  ] 


His service had its rewards.  In addition to the Bronze Star he earned in the Battle of the Bulge, his decorations included the Distinguished Flying Cross, the Air Medal, and the Purple Heart.  His service medals included the European-African-Middle Eastern Service Medal with six battle stars, the American Service Medal, and the Victory Medal.[footnoteRef:86]  After the war, the Luxembourg government awarded him with five decorations[footnoteRef:87]: Officier de l’Order de la Couronne de Chene, Croix de Guerre 1940-1945, Croix d’Honneur et de Merite Militaire en Argent de Campagnes de Palmes et d’un Insigne de Blesse, Medialle Commemorative de Voluntaires luxembourgeous de la Guerre 1940-1945, and Officier de l’Ordre du Merite Civil et Militaire d’Aldolphe de Nassau.[footnoteRef:88] [86:  Colonel Frank Foster and Lawrence Borts, Military Medals of the United States, Seventh Edition, Fountain Inn, South Carolina, MOA Press, 2010, p.70, gives the precedence of these awards..]  [87:  Jean-Robert Schleich de Bosse’, Distinctions Honorifiques au Pays de Luxembourg, Luxembourg, Librarie Paul Bruck, 1962, is a good rundown of these Luxembourg awards.]  [88:  The record is contradictory concerning the awards he received.  For example, we have noted that his official separation record does not list a Purple Heart but states that he was wounded two times. This list is a composite of his separation record (WD-AGO Form  33-16 (separation record), National Archives and Records Administration NA 13164, Information Releasable Under the Freedom Of Information Act, Charles J. Bech, and information provided by Mme Augustin.] 


After separation he returned to Canada and received his final documents from the army in Montreal, receiving his final promotion, to captain, on his last day on the army books.[footnoteRef:89]   He continued his love affair with aviation for some years, first as a test pilot for Lockheed and later with Pan American Airlines and then with Eastern Airlines.  In 1955 he moved again to Canada and served as the Luxembourg honorary consul in Montreal.  He returned to Luxembourg in 1964 and continued as a public servant until his retirement in 1977. [89:  Once again the records are contradictory.  The report of separation states that he was promoted on December 27, 1945 and  the  letter from the adjutant general’s office cited above shows the effective date as August 16, 1946.  Other records issued at the end of his service show him as a First Lieutenant.  The December date is probably correct, since it cites the order number for the action.  ] 


Charles didn’t have much time for art during his fast-moving military service, but his wartime sketches and cartoons show his interest and talent.  In the words of one Luxembourg account “During his flight training he painted mainly aircraft.  A number of bars in officers’ clubs enjoyed murals painted by Charles. While in Montreal, he became staff cartoonist for the daily Victoria Press.  As time went by he came to paint in water color.”[footnoteRef:90]  He contributed most of his talent to worthwhile causes, including illustrating new years’ cards for the Mersch orphanage and making his canvases available for auction by other good causes.  His work is found in the Grand Ducal Collection and other exhibits within and outside the grand duchy.  On a 1965 visit of US President Lyndon Johnson to Luxembourg LBJ was presented with two of Bech’s watercolors. They now form part of the Lyndon Johnson Library collection in Austin, Texas.[footnoteRef:91] [90: D’Letzebuerger am Krich, p179-181.]  [91:  Information provided by Renee Gravois, Lyndon Johnson Library, Austin, Texas.  ] 


Bech summed up his war years in the introduction to a collection of war photographs by renowned Signal Corps photographer Tony Vaccaro:  “As time goes by I realize how lucky I was to get out alive from this inferno [rather than] as one of thousands of allied fighters for freedom did not survive.  I will never forget my American crew member comrades who went down over enemy lands and my life-long ties to the United States of America.  A most special thought goes to my Luxembourg countrymen who endured he most brutal subjection by the Nazi regime….Do remember all these brave men and women struggling for freedom which the world is still desperately fighting for.”[footnoteRef:92]  The quote perhaps sums up Charles’s remarkable wartime experience, with loyalty to Uncle Sam while retaining his roots in Luxembourg, and always aware of the trials of his fellow countrymen.  Charles Bech died on February, 2000, at age 80. [92:  Quoted in D’Lëtzebuerger am Krich, p.p. 182.Vaccaro is one of the most distinguished combat photographers from the war, and spent some time in Luxembourg after D Day.  The quote was from Vaccaro’s Luxembourg 1944-45.”] 


It was all a long time ago
Luxembourg was liberated, partially overrun once again, and then liberated again in 1944-1945, and went on to reestablish its independence.  The grand duchy was instrumental in the movements towards European integration.  Josef Bech, Charles’ father, became prime minister again and was one of the early proponents for what became NATO.[footnoteRef:93]  For all the integration, Luxembourg retains its unique character and continues to live up to its motto and goal of remaining as it is. [93:  Nicolas Hommel, “Opting for Commitment:  Luxembourg Consolidates its Independence Within the North Atlantic Treaty Organization,” in Andre de Staercke, ed, NATO’s Anxious Birth:  The Prophetic Vision of the 1940s, London, C. Hurst and Co., 1985, pp. 133-141. ] 


The many sites of Charles’ wartime experience have been transformed.  The San Antonio Aviation Cadet Training Center, where he began his US military career, is now Lackland Air Force Base.  The building in which he took his psychological and physical tests is now the base museum.  Cuero Army Air Field can still be located, but has a different character.  One of the hangars remains, converted into a kitchen-fittings factory, and the flight line is taken up by a Texas state prison.  The apron where the cadets went out to their planes remains, and it is possible to imagine these young kids beginning their instruction.  The next stop, Blackland Army Air Field, is now an airport west of Waco.  Lubbock AAF, renamed Reese Air Force Base, retained its function as a military training base until it was closed in 1997.  Today it houses a technology center and college.  Lockbourne AAF is now one of the airports of Columbus, Ohio, and contains Rickenbacker Air National Guard Base.  Ardmore AAF remained in military service after the war, but has reverted to civilian use.  The flightline remains busy, housing the central junction point for an air express delivery service among other things.  Most of the units Charles belonged to remain on the US Air Force books, but transformed.  For example, the 67th Reconnaissance  Group is now a computer defense unit in San Antonio.[footnoteRef:94] [94:  Data based on visits to the locations as well as survey of internet sites.  ] 


A Note on Sources
Most of the information in this study is based on the two written texts shown in the footnotes and information generously given by Mme. Sabine Augustin-Bech, Charles Bech’s daughter.  Mr. Charles Lubicic, one of Bech’s crew at Ardmore, has provided valuable insight.  Luxembourg historians John Derneden and Georges Even have been helpful throught the project.  The official records on Bech’s career reflect the chaos which reigned in the postwar period, and no two official records agree.  I have made what I hope are good guesses in choosing which records to cite, and have identified the guesses in the footnotes.  Translations from French and German texts are mine, and any errors are mine.  Unless otherwise noted, explanations of American military customs, procedures, and organizations are from my experience.
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